95285-0

NO. 74664-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I

IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALLA KOVAL, APPELLANT/PLAINTIFF

v.

AUBURN REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, INC, RESPONDENT/DEFENDANT.

PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

BUSICK HAMRICK PALMER PLLC DOUGLAS M. PALMER Attorneys for Appellant/Plaintiff

By DOUGLAS M. PALMER, WSBA #35198 Busick Hamrick Palmer PLLC PO Box 1385 Vancouver, WA 98666 Ph. 360-696-0228

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

In this industrial insurance case, does a jury instruction misstate the law of multiple proximate cause when it instructs the jury Ms. Koval is not entitled to further benefits if her pre-existing condition is a proximate cause of her current condition?

The Court should grant review because the last optional sentence of WPI 30.18.01 was improperly given in Instruction No. 10 to the jury, which states "There may be no recovery, however, for any injuries or disabilities that would have resulted from natural progression of the preexisting condition even without this occurrence." This instruction wrongfully instructs the jury that so long as Ms. Koval's pre-existing knee condition was a proximate cause of her current disability then she is not entitled to further workers compensation benefits. Through a long line of decisions, our courts have affirmed that an injured worker is entitled to benefits so long as the industrial injury is "a" proximate cause of their current medical condition or disability and any pre-existing condition is immaterial to the analysis. See *Miller v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 200 Wn. 674, 94 P.2d 764 (1939); *Wendt v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 18 Wn. App. 674, 571 P.2d 229 (1977); *Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 109 Wn.2d

PETITION FOR REVIEW

ł

467, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987); Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Shirley, 171 Wn. App. 870, 288 P.3d 390 (2012); RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2)

The Court should grant review because the optional sentence of Instruction No. 10 incorrectly shifts the jury's focus off of the consequences of Ms. Koval's industrial injury by instructing the jury the ongoing effects of her pre-existing condition are material. Our courts have correctly required the jury to focus on the effects of an industrial injury on a worker's medical condition and disability (*Shirley*, 171 Wn. App. at 886) regardless of whether it was symptomatic at the time of injury (*Dennis*, 109 Wash.2d at 476). This is because injured workers are to be taken as we find them (*Wendt*, 18 Wn. App. at 682-3). Thus, Instruction No. 10 wrongly requires the jury to decide whether Ms. Koval has a naturally progressing pre-existing condition; and if so, to then find she is not entitled to further workers compensation benefits in violation of our rules governing multiple proximate cause.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Ms. Koval, a full-time phlebotomist, twice fell in the course of employment: January 1, 2010, and September 21, 2011. Both falls caused injury to her bilateral knees, with her right knee being worse than her left knee. The January 1, 2010, claim was closed on May 27, 2010.

The evidence presented demonstrated Ms. Koval had, prior to the first

injury, sought treatment for her knees. (Depositions of Drs. Singer and Moore). However, the last time, prior to these injuries, Ms. Koval saw a physician for her knees was a half-dozen times between May 2008 and April 2009 without any specific treatment being rendered for her knees since she was in a weight counseling program. (Dep. Dr. Moore pp. 7-25). At the time of the second injury, she was working as a phlebotomist without any work restrictions. (Dep. Dr. McCollum p. 46).

After her second fall at work on September 21, 2011, Ms. Koval obtained specific treatment for her knees. While there was a recommendation for surgery, the Respondents challenged whether the need for that surgery was due to the pre-existing arthritic condition. The Department closed the September 21, 2011 claim and Appellant appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals.

Regarding the January 1, 2010, claim, Appellant also filed a reopening application alleging an objective worsening of her knees, but the Department denied the reopening application on July 11, 2013, and Appellant further appealed that order as well.

The primary dispute in this appeal is what effect these injuries had on Ms. Koval's knees. Dr. Makovski testified her knees were aggravated by the injuries. (Deposition Dr. Makovski p. 24). Dr. Nayan testified these falls

aggravated her pre-existing arthritis. (Deposition Dr. Nayan p. 53). Dr. Cheung testified the injury caused an exacerbation of her prior knee problems. (Deposition Dr. Cheung pp. 22-24).

On direct examination, Dr. Dinneberg, who performed a one-time medical examination, testified these injuries did not aggravate the pre-existing arthritis. (Deposition Dr. Dinneberg pp. 27-28, 30-31). On cross-examination, Dr. Dinneberg deferred to Dr. McCollum's opinions on aggravation, because he examined the patient closer in time to the injuries. (Dep. Dr. Dinneberg pp. 67-68). On re-direct, Dr. Dinneberg testified Ms. Koval does not have traumatic arthritis, yet also acknowledged he did not examine her close in time to either injury. (Dep. Dr. Dinneberg pp. 94-95).

Then there was the testimony from Dr. McCollum, who also performed a one-time medical examination. Dr. McCollum diagnosed preexisting symptomatic knee arthritis, which was aggravated by Ms. Koval's industrial injury. (Deposition Dr. McCollum p. 22). He qualified his opinion that she was also experiencing the natural progression of her pre-existing arthritis and the effects of her pre-existing obesity. (Dep. Dr. McCollum p. 22). Dr. McCollum also testified that her pre-existing weight played a significant role in the development of arthritis in the knee. (Dep. Dr. McCollum pp. 55-56).

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Dr. Singer testified he only saw Ms. Koval once in 2002, and again in 2005. (Deposition Dr. Singer p. 18). Dr. Singer believed Ms. Koval's preexisting weight played a role in the progression of Ms. Koval's knee arthritis. (Dep. Dr. Singer p. 19). He last saw Ms. Koval in 2005, and he did not see or treat her at all after either of her industrial injuries. (Dep. Dr. Singer pp. 25-27). Even though he last saw Ms. Koval in 2005, Dr. Singer reviewed medical records up through 2012. He testified her first fall had not objectively worsened after claim closure and her second fall did not require further treatment. (Dep. Dr. Singer pp. 25-27).

Finally, Dr. Moore testified about his examinations of Ms. Koval's knees in 2008 and 2009. He did not review any additional records after 2009. Dr. Moore did not provide any opinions about causation of Ms. Koval's arthritis in her knees.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Jury instructions are sufficient when they allow counsel to argue their theory of the case, are not misleading, and, when read as a whole, properly inform the jury of the applicable law. *Keller v. City of Spokane*, 146 Wn.2d 237, 249, 44 P.3d 845 (2002). Even if the instructions are misleading, however, the verdict will not be reversed unless prejudice is shown. *Keller*, 146 Wn.2d at 249. An error is prejudicial if it presumably affects the outcome

of trial. Herring v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 81 Wn. App. 1, 23, 914 P.2d. 67 (1996).

It is well established that it is within the trial court's discretion whether to give a particular jury instruction. *Stiley v. Block*, 130 Wn.2d 486, 498, 925 P.2d 194 (1996). This Court has also summarized this standard as:

An exercise of judicial discretion is a composite of, among other things, conclusions drawn from objective criteria; it means a sound judgment exercised with regard to what is right under the circumstances and without doing so arbitrarily or capriciously. A decision involving discretion will not be disturbed on review except on a clear showing of its abuse, that is, discretion manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons.

State Ex Rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

Alternatively, the trial court abuses its discretion when it makes a decision contrary to the law. *Wash. State Physicians Ins. Exch. & Ass'n v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 339, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). "Jury instructions are reviewed *de novo*, and an instruction that contains an erroneous statement of the applicable law is reversible error where it prejudices a party." *Cox v. Spangler*, 141 Wash.2d 431, 442, 5 P.3d 1265 (2000).

ARGUMENT

The Court should grant review because the decision of the Court of Appeals is contrary to this Court's prior precedent in *Dennis* and the Court of Appeals' published decisions in *Wendt* and *Shirley*. RAP 13.4(b)(1) &

(2). In general, these cases stand for the proposition that in workers compensation appeals the focus of the jury must be on whether or not the industrial injury is a proximate cause of the worker's current disability. Instructions that ask the jury to focus on pre-existing or unrelated medical conditions create prejudicial error.

This Court's decision in *Dennis* affirms prior formulations of proximate cause in industrial insurance cases in our State:

It is a fundamental principle which most, if not all, courts accept, that, if the accident or injury complained of is the proximate cause of the disability for which compensation is sought, the previous physical condition of the workman is immaterial and recovery may be had for the full disability independent of any preexisting or congenital weakness

Dennis, 109 Wn.2d at 471, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987), quoting Miller, 200 Wash. at 682-83. This holding makes clear that if the "previous physical condition of the workman is immaterial" and if recovery is obtainable "independent of any preexisting . . . weakness," then the jury in this matter should not have been instructed that Ms. Koval is entitled to "no recovery" so long as her current knee condition is due (regardless of degree) to a natural progression of her pre-existing condition. Yet, this optional sentence of WPI 30.18.01 makes any natural progression of Ms. Koval's pre-existing conditions a complete bar to any recovery whatsoever under our Industrial Insurance Act, contrary to *Dennis*, *Miller*, *Shirley*, and *Wendt*.

The Court of Appeals wrongly held this sentence was a correct statement of the law, "The last sentence of Instruction 10 told the jury that Koval was not entitled to recover damages incurred from the natural progression of her preexisting condition." Slip Opinion at 6. While this might be a correct statement of the law in a personal injury lawsuit, where damages are apportioned, it is not a correct statement of the law in a workers compensation claim. There is no apportionment of time loss or medical treatment under the Industrial Insurance Act. Where there is no apportionment, the optional sentence of WPI 30.18.01 is not a correct statement of the law.

The lower court's formulation itself, "recover damages," highlights this important distinction between tort and workers compensation. Ms. Koval is not recovering damages in this appeal; she is seeking to prove her entitlement to further statutory benefits. This optional sentence instructs the jury to decide whether the evidence supports a "finding that some of the resulting injury would have resulted from the natural progression of the condition, even without the occurrence." *Torno v. Hayek*, 133 Wn. App. 244, 252, 135 P.3d 536 (2006).

If the jury so finds, then it is told Ms. Koval can have no recovery for those damages. In a workers compensation appeal, no recovery means

Ms. Koval is not entitled to any benefits. Without apportionment, this optional sentence transforms "immaterial" evidence of Ms. Koval's preexisting conditions into material evidence that acts as a complete bar to further statutory benefits.

Besides making Ms. Koval's immaterial pre-existing conditions material, the instruction also flips the proximate cause requirements. Again, there can be no recovery for Ms. Koval "for <u>any</u> injuries or disabilities" that have naturally progressed even if the industrial injuries had not occurred. Instruction No. 10 (emphasis added). This simply means if Ms. Koval's pre-existing conditions have naturally progressed and are a proximate cause of her current condition, she is not entitled to any benefits. This is an incorrect statement of the law of multiple proximate cause in the context of a workers' compensation claim.

This harm caused by the optional sentence of WPI 30.18.01 used in Instruction No. 10 is highlighted by the facts and holdings of *Shea v. Dep't* of Labor & Indus., 12 Wn. App. 410, 529 P.2d 1131 (1974). In *Shea*, the injured worker had a metal beam fall upon him, injuring his right shoulder and neck. There was testimony sufficient to find he was a permanently totally disabled worker due to the residuals of that injury. *Id.* at 411-12.

As the Court of Appeals identified, the case was complicated by the

fact that prior to this injury, the worker was suffering from high blood pressure and degenerative vascular disease, both of which were completely unrelated to the industrial injury. *Id.* at 412. Those conditions progressed naturally and concurrently with the sequelae of the industrial injury to the point where the vascular conditions independently prevented him from working. *Id.* at 412-13.

The court rightly cited to the *Miller* case and *Fochtman v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 7 Wn. App. 286, 499 P.2d 255 (1972) for the now offrepeated proposition that the injured worker's previous physical condition is immaterial and a full recovery is available independent of any preexisting weakness. *Id.* at 414. The Court concluded that where there is evidence the industrial injury is a proximate cause of the worker's disability, the worker is entitled to benefits regardless of other causes. *Id.* at 415-6. While *Shea* addresses permanent total disability, there is no reason why its analysis of proximate cause is not also applicable to Ms. Koval's appeal.

As a thought experiment, the Court should imagine the outcome of *Shea* if the final sentence of Instruction No. 10 is, in fact, a proper statement of the law in workers compensation claims. Again the instruction states in relevant part, "There may be no recovery, however, for any injuries or disabilities that would have resulted from natural progression of the pre-

PETITION FOR REVIEW

existing condition even without this occurrence." The Court should apply this "law" to the facts of Mr. Shea's case.

Mr. Shea's vascular condition pre-existed the industrial injury. That condition naturally progressed, even without his industrial injury. The vascular condition proximately caused Mr. Shea to be permanently totally disabled. This sentence tells the jury to give Mr. Shea "no recovery" for "any" disabilities that would have occurred from the natural progression of his vascular condition. This sentence instructs the jury to deny Mr. Shea benefits for being permanently totally disabled, even if it also finds his industrial injury is also a proximate cause of his disability.

The Court should grant review and hold the final sentence of WPI 30.18.01 should not be given in workers' compensation appeals because it misstates the law. An injured worker should not be denied statutory benefits merely because their pre-existing condition has progressed concurrently with their industrial injury. They can be denied benefits if the trier of fact finds the industrial injury is not a proximate cause of the current disability. There should not be a bar to any recovery merely because a jury finds the injured worker's disability was also proximately caused by the natural progression of a pre-existing condition. When read as a whole, Instruction No. 10 prejudicially misstates the law of multiple proximate cause as

applied to the Industrial Insurance Act.

CONCLUSION

The Court should grant review because the decision below conflicts with this Court's and the Court of Appeals' own long-standing precedent. A worker's pre-existing condition is immaterial to her entitlement to benefits. The focus of the jury must be on whether the industrial injury is a proximate cause of her current disability. As given, Instruction No. 10 wrongly and prejudicially instructs the jury to switch its focus to Ms. Koval's immaterial pre-existing conditions. Contrary to established court precedent, it instructs the jury to deny Ms. Koval any industrial insurance benefits even if her industrial injury is also a proximate cause of her disability. Review should be granted.