FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/4/2018 4:50 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 95285-0

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALLA KOVAL,

Petitioner,

V.

AUBURN REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, INC.,

Respondent,

RESPONDENT AUBURN REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW TO THE SUPREME COURT

Ryan S. Miller, WSBA# 40026 Hall & Miller, P.S. P.O. Box 33990 Seattle, WA 98133 Ph: (206) 622-1107

Fax: (206) 546-9613
rmiller@thall.com
Attorney for Respondent Auburn

Attorney for Respondent Auburn Regional Medical Center, Inc.

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

VI. ARGUMENT

The Petitioner fails to establish credible reasons under RAP 13.4(b) for the Court to grant review of the Court of Appeals' November 6, 2017 unpublished opinion, and fails to demonstrate any error on the part of the trial court in giving Jury Instruction No. 10.

The Petitioner's very issue statement mischaracterizes Jury Instruction No. 10 by focusing exclusively on the last sentence of the instruction. The Petitioner claims that Instruction No. 10 "instructs the jury [that] Ms. Koval is not entitled to further benefits if her pre-existing conditions is *a* proximate cause of her current condition." Petition at 1, bolded text.

This Answer will first argue that Jury Instruction No. 10 is consistent with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent, and that Review is unwarranted. Next, Auburn Regional will argue that the jury instructions given at the trial court were "sufficient" under *Keller v. City of Spokane*, 146 Wn.2d 237 (2002), and that even if misleading, no unfair prejudice resulted from Instruction No. 10. Last, Auburn Regional will argue that the Petitioner's improper and biased accounting of expert testimony given is both disingenuous and irrelevant.

A. Jury Instruction No. 10 is consistent with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent, and therefore Review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

The Petitioner overtly mischaracterizes Jury Instruction No. 10 by focusing exclusively on the last sentence of the Instruction, and attempts to create the illusion of error where there simply is none. Jury Instruction No. 10 is consistent with Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent and review should therefore be denied.

The Petitioner seeks Review by this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). See Petition at 6-7. RAP 13.4(b) provides, in relevant part,

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.

Here, the Petitioner cites *Dennis*, *Miller*, *Shirley*, and *Wendt*¹ for the correct proposition that "an injured worker is entitled to benefits so long as the industrial injury is 'a' proximate cause of their current medical condition or disability." *Id.* at 1. The Petitioner proceeds to argue that the final bracketed sentence of Instruction No. 10 is inconsistent with the multiple proximate causation rule, as laid down by *Dennis*, *Miller*, *Shirley*, and *Wendt*. The Petitioner is incorrect.

Jury Instruction No. 10 tracked WPI 30.18.01 exactly. WPI 30.18.01 provides as follows:

If [your verdict is for the [plaintiff] [defendant], and if] you find that:

- (1) before this occurrence the [plaintiff] [defendant] had a [bodily] [mental] condition that was not causing pain or disability; and
- (2) the condition made the [plaintiff] [defendant] more susceptible to injury than a person in normal health,

then you should consider all the injuries and damages that were proximately caused by the occurrence, even though those injuries, due to the pre-existing condition, may have been greater than those that would have been incurred under the same circumstances by a person without that condition.

[There may be no recovery, however, for any injuries or disabilities that would have resulted from natural

¹ Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987); Miller v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 200 Wash. 674, 94 P.2d 764 (1939); Dep't of Labor & Indus. v. Shirley, 171 Wn. App. 870, 288 P.3d 390 (Div. I 2012); and Wendt v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 18 Wn. App. 674, 571 P.2d 229 (Div. II 1977).

progression of the pre-existing condition even without this occurrence.]

In other words, Instruction No. 10 provides that if 1.) prior to the claim being filed, the Petitioner was asymptomatic, and 2.) the preexistent conditions made the Petitioner more susceptible to injury, then the jury should consider all "injuries and damages" *proximately caused* by the industrial injury even though the pre-existing frailty contributed to a greater harm. In other words, if these conditions are satisfied, the claimant is to receive full recovery for all injuries or disabilities arising proximately from his or her industrial injury.

The final bracketed sentence of the WPI goes on to explain that further benefits are not indicated for "injuries or disabilities" proven to be proximately caused by a natural progression of the Petitioner's preexistent conditions. The clear implication of this sentence is that if the industrial injury has ceased to be a proximate cause of the Petitioner's "injury or disability," then no further benefits are due.

This reading of Instruction No. 10 is manifest, particularly considering Jury Instruction No. 8, read to the jury almost immediately prior to Instruction No. 10. Jury Instruction No. 8 was, precisely, the "multiple proximate causation" rule, for which the Petitioner cites *Dennis*, *Miller*, *Shirley*, and *Wendt*. Instruction No. 8 provided:

There may be one or more proximate causes of a condition. For a worker to recover benefits under the Industrial Insurance Act, the industrial injury must be a proximate cause of the alleged condition for which benefits are sought. The law does not require that the industrial injury be the sole proximate cause of the condition.

CP at 71.

The Petitioner, without merit, tries to argue that this Court should grant review to reverse the Court of Appeals because it affirmed the trial court's Jury Instruction No. 10, ostensibly in contravention of Supreme Court and Court of Appeals precedent outlining the multiple proximate cause rule. The proximate causation rule, however, was expressly given as Jury Instruction No. 8, and Instruction No. 10 *read as a whole* is an accurate statement of the law governing proximate causation. Review should therefore be denied.

B. Jury Instruction No. 10 was "sufficient" under the laws provided by this Court.

The Petitioner cites this Court's *Keller* decision for the standards of what constitute "sufficient" jury instructions, but utterly fails to present arguments consistent with the law she cites. The jury instructions given at trial were "sufficient" under *Keller*, and the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision below does not warrant review.

This Court has held that jury instructions are "sufficient" when 1.) "they allow counsel to argue their theory of the case," 2.) they "are not

misleading," and 3.) "when read as a whole properly inform the trier of fact of the applicable law." *Keller v. City of Spokane*, 146 Wn.2d 237, 249, 44 P.3d 845 (2002)(citing *Bodin v. City of Stanwood*, 130 Wn.2d 726, 732, 927 P.2d 240 (1996)). "Even if an instruction is misleading, it will not be reversed unless prejudice is shown." *Id.* (citing *Walker v. State*, 67 Wn. App. 611, 615, 837 P.2d 1023 (1992), reversed by *Walker v. State*, 121 Wn.2d 214, 848 P.2d 721 (1993)).

First, the jury instructions provided at trial allowed the Petitioner to argue her theory of the case. The Court of Appeals' opinion addresses this criterion adeptly:

Koval had an opportunity to present evidence to the jury in support of her argument that she was entitled to damages proximately caused by her industrial injuries. The jury considered evidence of her knee injuries and preexisting condition. The jury determined that Koval was not entitled to further medical treatment and was not temporarily totally disabled, and that...her 2010 injury did not objectively worsen between May 2010 and July 2013. Moreover, Koval was not totally and permanently disabled.

Slip Op. at 9.

Second, Jury Instruction No. 10 was not misleading, particularly insofar as the multiple proximate causation rule is concerned. The Petitioner's progression of preexisting conditions was the sole proximate cause of her physical condition and/or disabilities. And critically, the multiple proximate causation rule was clearly and expressly given to the

jury in Instruction No. 8, almost immediately prior to the reading of Instruction No. 10. Instruction No. 10 was not misleading.

Third, the jury instructions *read as a whole* properly informed the jury of the applicable law. As relevant to this Petition, the jury heard the multiple proximate causation rule as Instruction No. 8, and they heard Instruction No. 10 informing them that all "injuries or disabilities" arising proximately from the industrial injury are compensable, even those partly due to preexisting infirmity. The jury also heard Instruction No. 10's direction that the Petitioner was not to recover for conditions caused by her naturally progressing and preexistent conditions. This properly informed the jury of the applicable law. The jury instructions given were "sufficient" under *Keller*, and the trial court did not err in giving these instructions.

Lastly, even if Instruction No. 10 were found to be "misleading," the Petitioner has experienced no prejudice here. However, the Petitioner argues that "this optional sentence of WPI 30.18.01 makes any natural progression of Ms. Koval's pre-existing conditions a complete bar to any recovery whatsoever." Petition at 7. The Petitioner is again mistaken.

As already stated numerous times, the jury was clearly and expressly given the multiple proximate causation instruction. "Juries are presumed to follow instructions absent evidence to the contrary." *State v. Lamar*, 180 Wn.2d 576, 586, 327 P.3d 46 (2014)(citing *State v. Dye*, 178 Wn.2d 541,

556, 309 P.3d 1192 (2013); *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 928, 155 P.3d 125 (2007)).

Additionally, in briefing before the Court of Appeals, the Petitioner admitted that her preexistent severe osteoarthritis was symptomatic at the time she sustained her industrial injuries. The Petitioner was not prejudiced by a jury instruction limiting her ability to recover once her industrial injury had returned to her baseline. There is zero precedent supporting the Petitioner's apparent belief that industrial insurance benefits must continue to flow for preexistent symptomatic conditions, even once the industrial injury to the same body part had resolved. The Petitioner's position is factually, legally, and logically untenable.

The Petitioner was permitted to argue the merits of her appeal, and did not prevail. The orders of the Department were affirmed at the Board, and the Board refused to grant review of the PD&Os issued therein. The jury empaneled at the Superior Court heard all evidence and arguments by the parties, were properly instructed of the relevant law, and affirmed the Board orders upholding the Department's orders. The Court of Appeals read the briefing and heard oral argument of the parties, and again affirmed.

The one line in Jury Instruction No. 10 complained of by the Petitioner did not unfairly prejudice her before the jury, and the Court of

Appeals decision was correct. Jury Instruction No. 10 was sufficient under *Keller*, and Review should be denied.

C. The Petitioner's attempt to reargue the factual merits of her case is improper under RAP 10.3(a)(5), misleading, and should not be considered.

The Petitioner's Statement of the Case is an improper and misleading attempt to undermine the Department's, the Board's, and the Jury's findings of fact. Further, the Petitioner's Statement of the Case fails the pleading requirements of RAP 10.3(a)(5). The Petitioner's Statement of the Case should be rejected.

"We should overturn an agency's factual findings only if they are clearly erroneous...and we are 'definitely and firmly convinced that a mistake has been made.' We do not weigh the credibility of witnesses or substitute our judgment for the PCHB's with regard to findings of fact." *Port of Seattle v. Pollution Control*, 151 Wn.2d 568, 588, 90 P.3d 659 (2004).

Here, the Petitioner seeks to challenge the factual findings and credibility determinations made by the Department of Labor and Industries, the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, and the jury impaneled at the Superior Court. *See* Petition at 2-5. The Petitioner does not allege that the Department, Board, and Superior Court's factual findings are "clearly

erroneous," nor does the Petitioner indicate any error in factual determinations made by the Department, the Board, and the Superior Court.

The Petitioner has overtly cherry-picked testimony in a misleading and argumentative manner. Not only does the Petitioner's account of expert testimony seemingly contradict three different tribunals' determinations, but it does so while failing to abide by the standard set by the Supreme Court in *Port of Seattle*.

Lastly, the Petitioner's Statement of the Case fails to adhere to RAP 10.3(a)(5). RAP 10.3(a)(5) explains that a "Statement of the Case" ought to be "[a] fair statement of the facts and procedure relevant to the issues presented for review, without argument." Here, the Petitioner's Statement of the Case is not a fair statement of the facts, is not responsive to the issues presented for review, and is argumentative on its face.

Petitioner states that "[t]he primary dispute in this appeal is what effect these injuries had on Ms. Koval's knees." Petition at 3. This is not correct. The Petitioner's own brief states that she is challenging Jury Instruction No. 10 as an incorrect statement of law, in contravention of established case law. This Petition presents a legal question that has little, if anything, to do with the relative effects of the Claimant's industrial injuries on her knees. These issues have already been litigated extensively. All three tribunals have determined that the Petitioner's "knee sprains"

temporarily aggravated her "severe pre-existing osteoarthritis," and that there was no objective worsening of the Petitioner's industrially related condition between the terminal dates.

As an ameliorative only, rebuttal facts are as follows. The Petitioner has severe and extensive preexisting osteoarthritis in her right knee that was diagnosed as early as 2002. Singer Trans. at 11-12; see also, Dinenberg Trans. at 14-17, 27-29, 37, 96, 99; and Makovski Trans at 21-22, 25. She is obese (300+ lbs) and had been prior to 2010, which is significant considering her preexistent degenerative knee conditions and her rate of decline. See Moore Trans. at 25; see also, Dinenberg Trans. at 19, 40. She was a candidate for total knee joint replacement surgery prior to 2010 but has been opposed to any surgery. Dinenberg 19, 40. The surgery was needed for a decade-plus degenerative process, not for the 2010 or 2011 sprains. See Dinenberg Trans. at 56-57, 74

The Petitioner failed to present any convincing objective evidence of a worsening of her right knee condition during the two terminal dates applicable for her application to reopen her original claim. CABR-1 at 45, 56-57, 61, 90; *id.* at 3; CP at 82-84. The Department, the Board, and the Superior Court have determined that a preponderance of the evidence points to the extensive preexisting osteoarthritic condition of her right knee as the cause of her mobility problems. And while unrelated to the present claim,

the only medical treatment available to the Appellant is a total knee replacement surgery to which she refuses to consent. *See* Dinenberg Trans. at 57.

The Petitioner's Statement of the Case is improperly argumentative, disingenuous, and seeks to argue irrelevant factual issues with dubious motive. The Department, the Board, and the Superior Court have all weighed the testimony and evidence offered in this case, and all have found that the credible evidence weighs against the issues raised by the Petitioner below. Additionally, the facts averred by the Petitioner are utterly irrelevant to the issues presented in the Petitioner's request for Review.

VII. CONCLUSION

Auburn Regional Medical Center respectfully requests the Court to deny the Petition for Review for the reasons indicated in Part VI.